# FILED Court of Appeals Division II SUBSTATE of Washington 11/9/2017 1:27 PM COA NO. 47835-8-11

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

## EDWARD WILKINS, Petitioner.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY

Cowlitz County Cause No. 14-1-01082-3

The Honorable Michael H. Evans, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Skylar T. Brett Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER SKYLAR T. BRETT P.O. Box 2711 Vashon, WA 98070 (206) 494-0098 skylarbrettlawoffice@gmail.com

####

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Edward Wilkins, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Edward Wilkins seeks review of the Court of Appeals published opinion entered on October 10, 2017. A copy of the opinion is attached.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

**ISSUE 1:** Two offenses are the same for double jeopardy purposes if the evidence necessary to convict for one is also sufficient to convict for the other. Did the court violate Mr. Wilkins's right to be free from double jeopardy by entering convictions for both rape of a child and child molestation based on evidence of a single act of penetration?

**ISSUE 2:** The doctrine of judicial estoppel prohibits a party from asserting a position to a court when that party has previously gained an advantage by asserting an opposite position. Does judicial estoppel prohibit the state from arguing on appeal that the court should affirm Mr. Wilkins's convictions for both rape of a child and child molestation when the prosecutor persuaded the trial court to permit a late amendment to the charging document by averring that the two convictions would merge for double jeopardy purposes?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Edward Wilkins was briefly married to Kyra Wilkins in 2008. RP 364-365. Ms. Wilkins's four children, including her daughter N.H. lived with the couple before and during their marriage. RP 364-365.

N.H. was diagnosed with genital herpes in 2008 when she was three and a half years old. RP 466; Ex. 2. Her doctor suspected that the disease had been caused by sexual abuse. Ex. 2, p. 1. He acknowledged, however, that there could also have been a benign explanation. Ex. 2, p. 1.

N.H. was interviewed by a child forensic interviewer in 2011. RP 406. N.H. did not make any disclosures warranting further action. RP 406-407.

N.H. was interviewed again in 2014. RP 287. At that interview, she alleged that Mr. Wilkins had raped her. RP 301-303. She described a single incident of penile-vaginal penetration occurring when Mr. Wilkins had lived with her family six years earlier. RP 325-326. She did not allege any other inappropriate touching before or after that episode. RP 331-332.

Following this interview, a detective located Mr. Wilkins and confronted him about the allegation. RP 511-512. The detective had already obtained a search warrant for Mr. Wilkins's medical records, and

knew that he had been diagnosed with herpes five years after the alleged incident. RP 511.

The state charged Mr. Wilkins with rape of a child in the first degree. CP 9.

One the eve of trial, the state amended the charging document to add a charge of child molestation in the first degree. RP 232-235; CP 9.

The prosecutor acknowledged that the child molestation charge was based on the same single incident as the rape charge. RP 232-233. The prosecutor recognized that convictions for both charges would merge for double jeopardy purposes. RP 233.

Based on that representation, the judge analogized the state's theory to charging residential burglary and second-degree burglary in the alternative. RP 233. The prosecutor agreed with that comparison. RP 233. The court granted the state's motion to amend the Information. RP 235.

The jury found Mr. Wilkins guilty of both rape of a child and child molestation. CP 30-31. The court entered convictions for both offenses and sentenced Mr. Wilkins for both. CP 44, 50.

Mr. Wilkins timely appealed, arguing, *inter alia*, that the trial court violated the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy by entering convictions for both charges. CP 61; Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 7-10.

On appeal, however, the state argued (contrary to its assertions in the trial court) that the rape of a child and child molestation do not merge for double jeopardy purposes. Brief of Respondent, pp. 8-11.

The Court of Appeals affirmed both of Mr. Wilkins's convictions in a published decision. *See* Opinion.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that Mr. Wilkins's convictions for both rape of a child and child molestation violated the constitutional protection against double jeopardy because both were based on a single act of penetration. This significant question of constitutional law is of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

Initially, the prosecutor acknowledged that the child molestation charge would be dismissed if the jury convicted Mr. Wilkins of both child molestation and rape of a child. RP 233. The state agreed that a single act supported both charges. RP 232-233.

Still, the court entered convictions and sentences against Mr. Wilkins for both charges. CP 44, 50. By doing so, the court violated Mr. Wilkins's right to be free from double jeopardy. *In re Orange*, 152 Wn.2d 795, 815, 100 P.3d 291 (2004).

Both the Washington state and federal constitutions prohibit multiple punishments for a single offense. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV;

Wash. Const. art. I, § 9; *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 815. The *Blockburger*<sup>2</sup> or "same evidence" test controls the double jeopardy analysis unless there is a clear indication that the legislature intended otherwise. *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652. Under the *Blockburger* test, multiple convictions based on a single act violate double jeopardy if the evidence necessary to support a conviction for one offense would also have been sufficient to support a conviction for the other. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 816.

The legal elements of the offenses are not dispositive of the *Blockburger* test for double jeopardy. *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652<sup>3</sup>. In order to constitute separate offenses, two crimes must each include an element not included in the other *and* must each require proof of a fact that the other does not. *State v. Hughes*, 166 Wn.2d 675, 682, 212 P.3d 558 (2009).

Mr. Wilkins's child molestation and rape convictions constituted the same offense for double jeopardy purposes. The two offenses involved

Double jeopardy violations are constitutional issues reviewed *de novo. State v. Womac*, 160 Wn.2d 643, 649, 160 P.3d 40 (2007). Double jeopardy violations constitute manifest error affecting a constitutional right, which can be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v.* 

Turner, 102 Wn. App. 202, 206, 6 P.3d 1226 (2000); RAP 2.5(a)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See also Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 820 (holding that, because the offenses were both based on the single act of firing one shot at another person, attempted murder and assault constituted the same offense despite different legal elements); *State v. Martin*, 149 Wn. App. 689, 699, 205 P.3d 931 (2009) (finding that convictions for assault and attempted rape violated double jeopardy despite different legal elements).

a single act of penetration, and were based on the same evidence. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 816.

To convict Mr. Wilkins for rape of a child, the state was required to prove that he engaged in intercourse with N.H. RCW 9A.44.073. To convict for child molestation, the state was required to prove sexual contact with N.H. RCW 9A.44.083.<sup>4</sup>

Proof that Mr. Wilkins engaged in intercourse with N.H. was sufficient to prove that he engaged in sexual contact. Indeed, that is the only evidence the state presented to prove that Mr. Wilkins engaged in child molestation. As such, the jury incontrovertibly convicted him for both offenses based on the same evidence.

The evidence necessary to convict Mr. Wilkins of rape of a child was also sufficient to convict him of child molestation. His conviction and sentence for both violated his right to be free from double jeopardy.

Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 816.

Differences in the legal elements legal elements are not dispositive. *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652. Here, the state proved both offenses using exactly the same facts. *Id*; RCW 9A.44.010(2); RCW 9A.44.073; RCW 9A.44.083.

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sexual contact means any touching of the sexual or intimate parts for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire. RCW 9A.44.010(2).

Even so, the Court of Appeals affirmed both of Mr. Wilkins's convictions, relying on *State v. Land*, 172 Wn. App. 593, 600, 295 P.3d 783 (2013) and *State v. Jones*, 71 Wn. App. 798, 822, 863 P.2d 85 (1993). Opinion, pp. 10-11.

But *Jones* was decided before the Supreme Court clarified that any difference in the legal elements is not dispositive when the evidence necessary to prove one offense is sufficient to prove the other. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 816; *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652. Jones was implicitly overruled by this Court in *Orange* and *Womac*.

The *Land* court, implied in *dicta* that rape by means of penetration is never the same offense as molestation, because "the touching of sexual parts for sexual gratification constitutes molestation up until the point of actual penetration." *Land*, 172 Wn. App. at 600.

Land should also not control here. First, the Land court was faced with separate acts of molestation and penetration; the language relied upon by the Court of Appeals is dicta, with no precedential value. Second, the Land court's assumption is also belied by the facts of Mr. Wilkins's case in which there was no evidence of any sexual contact prior to the penetration itself. Third, the Land dicta would not resolve the double jeopardy issue in Mr. Wilkins's case, because the court did not instruct jurors to base convictions for the two charges on separate and distinct acts.

CP 11-29; *see State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 661, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). Accordingly, the jury convicted Mr. Wilkins for both offenses based on the single act of penetration, which was not preceded or followed by any other touching.

As pointed out in Judge Melnick's dissent in Mr. Wilkins's case, the holding of the Court of Appeals majority also fails to comport with legislative intent. Opinion, p. 29 (Melnick, J. dissenting).

Mr. Wilkins's conviction for both rape of a child and child molestation violated the prohibition against double jeopardy. *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652. His conviction for child molestation must be vacated. *Id*.

B. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the doctrine of judicial estoppel prohibits the state from arguing on appeal that Mr. Wilkins's two convictions do not violate double jeopardy after the trial court accepted the state's position below that they would merge. This issue is of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The doctrine of judicial estoppel precludes a party from gaining an advantage by asserting one position at a court proceeding and subsequently advancing an inconsistent position. *Miller v. Campbell*, 164 Wn.2d 529, 539–40, 192 P.3d 352 (2008). The doctrine's purpose is to "preserve respect for judicial proceedings" and to "avoid inconsistency, duplicity, and waste of time." *Id.* (internal citation omitted).

The analysis turns on three factors:

(1) whether 'a party's later position' is 'clearly inconsistent' with its earlier position"; (2) whether 'judicial acceptance of an inconsistent position in a later proceeding would create 'the perception that either the first or the second court was misled'; and (3) 'whether the party seeking to assert an inconsistent position would derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on the opposing party if not estopped.'

*Id.* (quoting New Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742, 750–51, 121 S.Ct. 1808, 149 L.Ed.2d 968 (2001)) (other internal citations omitted).<sup>5</sup>

The state's change of position regarding the double jeopardy issue in Mr. Wilkins's case meets each of the three criteria for judicial estoppel. *Id.* 

First, the state's position on appeal that entry of convictions for both child molestation and rape of a child against Mr. Wilkins does not violate his right to be free from double jeopardy is "clearly inconsistent" with the state's position at trial that convictions for both charges would merge for double jeopardy purposes. *Id*.

The trial prosecutor referred to the analysis as a "merger issue," which pinpoints the issue as one of double jeopardy. RP 233; *See e.g.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Washington Courts have considered the issue of judicial estoppel in numerous criminal cases, but have always found that the doctrine did not apply based on the facts of those prior cases. *See e.g. State v. Hamilton*, 179 Wn. App. 870, 881, 320 P.3d 142 (2014); *State v. Herron*, 177 Wn. App. 96, 108 n. 9, 318 P.3d 281 (2013), *aff'd*, 183 Wn.2d 737, 356 P.3d 709 (2015); *State v. Sweany*, 162 Wn. App. 223, 228, 256 P.3d 1230 (2011), *aff'd*, 174 Wn.2d 909, 281 P.3d 305 (2012); *City of Spokane v. Marr*, 129 Wn. App. 890, 893, 120 P.3d 652 (2005); *See also In re Det. of Stout*, 159 Wn.2d 357, 365, 150 P.3d 86 (2007) (applying the doctrine to a criminal conviction in the context of a RCW 71.09 proceeding).

State v. Thompson, 192 Wn. App. 733, 736, 370 P.3d 586 (2016), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1041, 377 P.3d 766 (2016) (discussing double jeopardy issue in terms of whether two offenses "merge"). The prosecutor acknowledged to the trial court that, if Mr. Wilkins was convicted of both charges, the lesser offense should be "throw[n] out." RP 233.

The state now argues on appeal that the two convictions do not merge for double jeopardy purposes and that both convictions should stand. *See* Brief of Respondent, pp. 8-11. The state's current position is "clearly inconsistent" with the one it took at trial. *Id*.

Second, judicial acceptance of the state's position on appeal would "create the perception that [the trial court] was misled" in Mr. Wilkins's case. *Id.* The trial court permitted the state to amend its charging document – over defense objection – on the eve of trial based, in part, on the prosecutor's representation that convictions for both charges would merge for double jeopardy purposes. RP 232-235.

Acceptance of the state's contrary position on appeal would call into question whether the trial court would have allowed the late amendment if the state had not argued that the convictions would merge.

This Court should not permit the state to maintain a position opposite of that it took in the trial court because it would create the perception that the

trial court was misled when it permitted the state to amend the charging document. *Id.* 

Finally, acceptance of the state's change of position on appeal would impose an unfair detriment on Mr. Wilkins. *Id.* The additional conviction – which was entered in violation of the prohibition against double jeopardy – adds to the stigma Mr. Wilkins faces as someone convicted of multiple sex offenses.

The trial court also sentenced Mr. Wilkins above the presumptive middle of the standard range.<sup>6</sup> CP 49-50. It is possible that court would have exercised its discretion to sentence Mr. Wilkins more leniently if he had only been convicted of one offense. The additional conviction could also sway the Indeterminate Sentence Review Board to hold Mr. Wilkins in prison for longer than it would if he had only been convicted of a single offense.

Indeed, the Court of Appeals majority agreed that this third element weighs in favor of Mr. Wilkins's argument on judicial estoppel. Opinion, pp. 7-8.

<sup>6</sup> Mr. Wilkins received an indeterminate sentence, as mandated by statute. CP 50; RCW 9.94A.507. But the court exercised its discretion to set the low end of his sentence at 300

months, when the available range was 240-318 months. CP 49-50.

11

The doctrine of judicial estoppel prohibits the state from changing

positions in Mr. Wilkins's case as to whether his two convictions should

merge for double jeopardy purposes. Miller, 164 Wn.2d at 539–40.

This Court should accept the state's concession in the trial court

that Mr. Wilkins's two convictions merge for double jeopardy purposes.

Id.; RP 232-233. Mr. Wilkins's conviction for child molestation must be

vacated. Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 815.

VI. CONCLUSION

The issues here are significant under the State Constitution.

Furthermore, because they could impact a large number of criminal cases,

they are of substantial public interest. The Supreme Court should accept

review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).