FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/8/2017 2:34 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 95250-7 C.O.A. No. 47835-8-II Cowlitz Co. Cause No. 14-1-01082-3

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

EDWARD JAMES WILKINS,

Petitioner.

# RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC BENTSON/WSBA#38471 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address: Hall of Justice 312 S. W. First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 Telephone: 360/577-3080

#

### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Eric H. Bentson, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals correctly decided this matter. The Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny review of the October 10, 2017, Court of Appeals' opinion in *State of Washington vs. Edward Wilkins*, No. 47835-8-II.

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals' opinion affirming that Wilkins' convictions, which were sentenced as same criminal conduct, did not violate double jeopardy present a significant question of constitutional law or involve an issue of substantial public interest?
- 2. Does the Court of Appeals' opinion that the State was not estopped from responding to Wilkins' double jeopardy argument on appeal involve an issue of substantial public interest?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2008, Edward Wilkins was in a relationship with the mother of three-and-a-half-year-old N.H. and lived with them. RP at 342, 365-67. Wilkins would stay home with N.H. while N.H.'s mother went to work. RP

at 365, 369, 374. One day when her mother was at work, Wilkins took N.H. into her mother's bedroom and had sexual intercourse with her. RP at 415, 421. During this event Wilkins inserted his penis into N.H.'s vagina. RP at 423. As a result of their genital-to-genital contact, N.H. acquired genital herpes. RP at 459, 465-66, 469. Subsequently, N.H. complained of her "privates hurting." RP at 370. N.H.'s mother took N.H. to the hospital for a medical examination and was informed that N.H. had genital herpes. RP at 371-74. Because genital herpes is passed from genital-to-genital contact, N.H.'s mother was also informed this was a strong indication of sexual abuse. RP at 374, 458, 469.

N.H.'s mother and Wilkins separated; N.H. and her mother moved to Idaho. RP at 374-75. When N.H. tried to talk about what had happened, her mother would tell her she did not want to talk about it. RP at 375. Wilkins was subsequently convicted and went to prison for an unrelated sex offense, involving a different child.<sup>2</sup> RP at 192-95, 216, 221. Several years later, N.H. disclosed what had happened to a forensic interviewer in Idaho. RP at 417-21. Police obtained a search warrant for Wilkins' medical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As N.H. stated at trial, his "bad spot ... went up mine." RP at 415, 421. N.H. identified her bad spot as her vagina, and Wilkins' bad spot as his penis. RP at 423-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The court denied the State's ER 404(b) motion to admit evidence related to this offense. RP at 252-54.

records from prison, revealing Wilkins had herpes as manifested by bumps on his penis.<sup>3</sup> RP at 508-11, 490-93.

Wilkins was charged with rape of a child in the first degree for having sexual intercourse with three-and-a-half-year-old N.H. RP at 347-350, 366, 415, 421-24. Prior to trial, the State moved to amend the information, adding a count of child molestation in the first degree. RP at 232; CP at 9-10. Wilkins' attorney acknowledged that the amendment would not change the evidence, but objected to form, maintaining the counts should be charged in the alternative. RP at 232.

The following exchange then took place between the prosecutor and the court:

Court: Mr. Bentson, is it – is it a – is it a separate and distinct act or is it an alt –

Prosecutor: Well, it's the same -

Court: -- alternate?

Prosecutor: -- act, Your Honor. Your – you don't have to charge them as alternatives. I mean, that's really the State's option, whether we charge two things. If you had penetration, you have Rape of a Child 1. If you had a child molest, you have Rape Child 2. And –

Court: Is there any con - any - any concern that the jury could make a determination of guilty on both counts?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The jury was not informed Wilkins' records came from prison. RP at 256.

Prosecutor: I think if the jury were to find him guilty of both counts, then the Court would then throw out the lower count. I think that's how it's done.

Court: So the rule of lenity doesn't apply?

Prosecutor: No, not the rule of lenity, Your Honor. I think that would be for statutory interpretation.

Court: Okay.

Prosecutor: But I think if you have two and you have a – merger issue, then the lesser one goes away. So we do that with the understanding that if they find him guilty of both, the Court would be dismissing the child molest in the first degree at some point, or –

Court: I mean, is it akin to charging someone with residential burglary or burglary in the second degree, and just kind of depending on how the jury interprets the evidence? Is that kind of the approach?

Prosecutor: Right, Your Honor, I think child molest in the first degree is not a lesser-included of rape of a child in the first degree, and the reason for that is rape of a child in the first degree requires penetration, whereas child molest in the first degree requires sexual contact with – for the purpose of sexual gratification....

RP at 233-34.

Wilkins' attorney agreed the evidence would permit the jury to find both crimes, but again objected, maintaining the two crimes should be charged in the alternative. RP at 234-35. The court granted the motion to amend. RP at 235. Wilkins was convicted of both crimes. RP at 618.

At sentencing, the prosecutor stated:

[H]e was found guilty of both Rape of a Child 1 and child molest in the first degree. The parties agree, we did at the time and we continue to, that that was same criminal conduct, it was based on one act that the victim testified to, so they should not count against each other on the offender score. He should be sentenced for both, he was convicted of both, but they're same criminal conduct and so – in reading the cases on this, the Court has to make a finding they were same criminal conduct. It's normally the Defendant's burden, but we are in agreement that it was same criminal conduct, so the parties are jointly asking the Court to find that those two were same criminal conduct.

RP at 631.

Wilkins' attorney agreed with the State and asked the court to find the two crimes were same criminal conduct, stating:

And I think it's – it's – if the Court would recall, that's what we discussed at the time the State made the motion to amend. Defense objected to the form, requesting it be an alternative count as opposed to a separate count. The Court allowed the amendment as stated, but at the time, the parties all indicated it should be same criminal conduct if he was convicted of both and it shouldn't count against each other, effectively being sentenced primarily to the greater charge, so I think that's appropriate.

RP at 631-32. Wilkins' attorney did not argue that the two convictions violated double jeopardy. RP at 631-32. The court found the two crimes were same criminal conduct and did not count them against each other when determining the offender score. CP at 46.

Despite having stated it was appropriate to treat the crimes as same criminal conduct, for the first time on appeal Wilkins argued the convictions

violated double jeopardy. *Appellant's Opening Brief* at 7-11. The State responded to this argument. *Respondent's Brief* at 8-11. The Court of Appeals found that the convictions did not violate double jeopardy, however one of the judges dissented "solely on this issue." *Slip Op.* at 23. The Court of Appeals unanimously found that the State was not estopped from responding to Wilkins' double jeopardy argument. *Slip Op.* at 5-8, 23.

# V. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Because Wilkins' petition fails to raise any of the grounds governing review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b) a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Wilkins maintains his double jeopardy argument that was rejected by the Court of Appeals involves a significant question of constitutional law and an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). He also maintains the Court of Appeals' determination that the State was permitted to respond to this argument on appeal involves a substantial issue of public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). He does not claim that either of these rulings are in conflict with existing case law of the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Wilkins' claim of double jeopardy fails because rape of a child and child molestation do not violate double jeopardy when based on a single act of penetration. *See State v. Land*, 172 Wn.App. 593, 600, 295 P.3d 782 (2013). Thus, his double jeopardy claim does not raise a constitutional issue or involve an issue of substantial public interest. His claim that the State was estopped from responding to his double jeopardy argument on appeal also fails because a concession or admission concerning a question of law is not binding on the reviewing court. *See State v. Knighten*, 109 Wn.2d 896, 902, 748 P.2d 1118 (1988). For these reasons, his petition does not meet the criteria required for review under RAP 13.4(b).

A. WILKINS' CONVICTIONS FOR RAPE OF A CHILD IN THE FIRST DEGREE AND CHILD MOLESTATION IN THE FIRST DEGREE DID NOT VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY.

Because Rape of a Child in the First Degree and Child Molestation in the First Degree each contain independent elements, Wilkins' convictions do not violate double jeopardy. The Court of Appeals has explained:

Child molestation requires that the offender act for the purpose of sexual gratification, an element not included in first degree rape of a child, and first degree rape of a child requires penetration or oral/genital contact occur, an element not required in child molestation. Each offense requires the

State to prove an element that the other does not, and therefore the offenses are not the 'same offense' for double jeopardy purposes.

State v. Jones, 71 Wn.App. 798, 825, 863 P.2d 85 (1993). Wilkins' convictions for Rape of a Child in the First Degree and Child Molestation in the First Degree both occurred as part of a single incident.<sup>4</sup> At sentencing the parties agreed that these two crimes should be considered same criminal conduct. RP at 631-32. The court found they were same criminal conduct and did not count the crimes against each other when calculating Wilkins' offender score. RP at 631-32. Wilkins now contends that the two convictions based on a single incident violate double jeopardy. However, a single incident of penetration done for purposes of sexual gratification allows for convictions of both rape of a child and child molestation without violating double jeopardy.

The double jeopardy clause of the constitution protects a defendant from a second trial for the same offense and against multiple punishments for the same offense. *State v. Vladovic*, 99 Wn.2d 413, 423, 662 P.2d 853 (1983) (citing *Whalen v. United States*, 445 U.S. 684, 100 S.Ct. 1432, 63 L.Ed.2d 715 (1980)); *see also, Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932); U.S. CONST. amend. V; WASH.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "The molestation occurred when Wilkins had sexual contact with N.H. for sexual gratification; the rape occurred when there was penetration." *Slip Op.* at 11.

CONST. art. I, § 9. To protect against double jeopardy, the *Blockburger* test examines whether each offense contains an element not contained in the other. *State v. Gocken*, 127 Wn.2d 95, 101, 896 P.2 1267 (1995) (referencing *Blockburger*, 284 U.S. at 304). "Washington case law establishes the *Blockburger* test adequately protects the citizens of this state from double jeopardy." *Id.* at 106.

Washington's "same evidence' test is basically identical to the *Blockburger* test." *Id.* at 104. Offenses committed during a single transaction are not necessarily the "same offense." *Vladovic*, 99 Wn.2d at 423 (citing *State v. Roybal*, 82 Wn.2d 577, 512 P.2d 718 (1973)). To be the same offense for double jeopardy purposes, the offenses must be the same in law and fact. *Id.* "If there is an element in each offense which is not included in the other, and the proof of one offense would not necessarily also prove the other, the offenses are not constitutionally the same and the double jeopardy clause does not prevent convictions for both offenses." *Id.* 

When, under the same evidence test, each offense contains independent elements, there is a presumption that the legislature intended to allow multiple convictions for the same act. *State v. Calle*, 125 Wn.2d 769, 776-780, 888 P.2d 155 (1995). This presumption is overcome "only by clear evidence of contrary intent." *Id.* at 780. In *Calle*, there was no clear evidence of contrary legislative intent to overcome the presumption of

independent elements with regard to the crimes of rape and incest based on a single act of sexual intercourse. *Id.* In *Jones*, double jeopardy was not violated for convictions of rape of a child in the first degree and child molestation in the first degree based on a single incident. 71 Wn.App. at 825. The Supreme Court has also held that because rape of a child and child molestation have independent elements, "[t]he two crimes are separate and can be charged and punished separately." *State v. French*, 157 Wn.2d 593, 611, 141 P.3d 54 (2006).

The Court of Appeals has specifically examined the issue of double jeopardy with regard to child molestation and rape of a child by penetration. State v. Land, 172 Wn.App. 593, 600, 295 P.3d 782 (2013). "Where the only evidence of sexual intercourse supporting a count of child rape is evidence of penetration, rape is not the same offense as child molestation." Id. at 600. This is because "the touching of sexual parts for sexual gratification constitutes molestation up until the point of actual penetration; at that point the act of penetration alone, regardless of motivation, supports a separately punishable conviction for child rape." Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Regardless of whether or not *Land's* reasoning is dicta, its explanation of the distinction between rape of a child involving penetration and child molestation is sound and its conclusion is correct.

Consequential to the double jeopardy analysis is whether the State seeks to impose multiple punishments for the same offense.<sup>6</sup> *See Land*, 172 Wn.App. at 603. Moreover, the same criminal conduct analysis contemplated by RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) provides legislative "validation of the concept of multiple convictions arising out of the same criminal conduct[.]" *Calle*, 125 Wn.2d at 781 (citing former RCW 9.94A.400(1)(a)).

Here, the crime of rape of a child required penetration. The crime of child molestation required sexual contact for the purpose of sexual gratification. Therefore, rape of a child and child molestation each contain independent elements. Further, at the moment when Wilkins touched N.H.'s vagina with his penis for the purpose of sexual gratification he committed the crime of child molestation; when his penis penetrated N.H.'s vagina, he committed the crime of rape of a child. *See Slip Op.* at 11. Thus, the two crimes were not the same in law and fact. Because rape of a child and child molestation each contain independent elements, there is a presumption that his convictions did not constitute the same offense for double jeopardy purposes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> When a jury convicts a defendant of both rape of a child and child molestation based on the same incident, then these crimes may encompass same criminal conduct. *State v. Dolen*, 83 Wn.App. 361, 365, 921 P.2d 590 (1996), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Graciano*, 176 Wn.2d 531, 538-39, 295 P.3d 219 (2013). Under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a), when a court finds that two current offenses encompass same criminal conduct, then those current offenses shall be counted as one crime and served concurrently.

a statute as opposed to a statement of fact *is not binding on the court.*" State v. Knighten, 109 Wn.2d 896, 902, 748 P.2d 1118 (1988) (emphasis in original) (quoting Dettore v. Brighton TP., Etc., 91 Mich.App. 526, 534, 284 N.W.2d 148 (1979)). At the time of the amended information, the prosecutor indicated that because the two crimes were based on a single act, he thought the court would dismiss the lesser charge if Wilkins was convicted of both. Later, at sentencing, both the State and Wilkins agreed that the crimes should be treated as same criminal conduct, thus it was unnecessary to dismiss one of the crimes. Because, at most, the prosecutor's statement was a legal concession not a factual one, the State was not estopped from taking a different position on appeal.

"Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine that precludes a party from gaining an advantage by asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position." *Cunningham v. Reliable Concrete Plumbing, Inc.*, 126 Wn.App. 222, 224-25, 108 P.3d 147 (2005). "There are two primary purposes behind the doctrine: preservation of respect for judicial proceedings and avoidance of inconsistency, duplicity, and waste of time." *Anfinson, v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 851, 861, 281 P.3d 289 (2012). Importantly, judicial estoppel is not intended to provide a technical defense for litigants

seeking to derail potentially meritorious claims. *Miller v. Campbell*, 164 Wn.2d 529, 544, 192 P.3d 352 (2008).

Questions that guide a trial court's determination of whether to apply judicial estoppel are: (1) whether a party's current position is inconsistent with an earlier position, (2) whether judicial acceptance of an inconsistent position in the later proceeding will create the perception that the party misled either the first or second court, and (3) whether the party asserting the inconsistent position will obtain an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on the opposing party if not estopped. *Afinson*, 174 Wn.App at 861-62. Judicial estoppel is only available when the first court adopted the inconsistent claim or position, either as a preliminary matter or as part of a final disposition. *Taylor v. Bell*, 185 Wn.App. 270, 282-83, 340 P.3d 951 (2014), *review denied*, 183 Wn.2d 1012 (2015).

In the criminal context, a court is "not bound by erroneous concessions of legal principles." *Knighten*, 109 Wn.2d at 902. For example in *Knighten*, the Supreme Court was not bound by the State's previous concession that there was no probable cause for arrest at the time of Knighten's detention. *Id.* at 901-02. The Court drew an important distinction between a concession on a matter of law, which is not binding, and concession of fact, that would be binding. *Id.* at 902. The Court stated: "Whether or not such a concession was made is unimportant, and of course,

this court is nowise bound thereby, the question being one of law to be determined from admitted facts." *Id.* (quoting *In re Dunn's Estate*, 31 Wn.2d 512, 528, 197 P.2d 606 (1948)).

Here, because at the time of the amendment the claimed concession was legal, it does not bind this Court, permitting the State to oppose Wilkins' double jeopardy claim on appeal. When moving to amend the information, the prosecutor explained that the two crimes listed were based on a single act. RP at 233. At the time, double jeopardy was not discussed. RP at 232-35. The prosecutor expressed a belief that there may be a future merger issue. RP at 233. Of course, at this point in the proceedings neither double jeopardy nor merger were at issue because Wilkins had not yet been convicted or acquitted of either crime. *See State v. Michelli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 238-39, 937 P.2d 587 (1997) (explaining the merger doctrine does not prevent the State from charging multiple crimes even if those crimes merge, and that "the question of merger arises only after the State has successfully obtained guilty verdicts on the charges that allegedly merge."); *State v.*

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